The Northcote Fuel Tank Farm to 1989 

Speech given to the Birkenhead Historical Society 13 May 2006.

Those who live in Birkenhead, Northcote or Takapuna will likely know the area of which I speak. The former Northcote Fuel Tank Farm is now surrounded by Akoranga Drive, the AUT Akoranga Campus and the Warehouse Way. There is also major earthworks underway for the Esmonde Road Interchange.

Earlier I have spoken about the 1850 around 400 acre land grant to the Catholic Church, which included the Tank Farm area. I also described how the agricultural use of that land was to be used for Church financing of education for both Maori and Pakeha. In the 1880’s and 1890’s dispossessed Maori were given sanctuary on part of that land, and some 70 were still there in the early twentieth century. A leaser of another part of the Catholic estate, Henry Hopper Adams, had ambitious plans for using their portion of Church land for more intensive farming and building a jetty on the Awataha point. With the support of the Catholic Church he initiated a series of removals and trespasses of those remaining Maori. As well as their settlement or kainga Maori also had their own burial ground or urupa at Awataha.

In the early 1920’s two groups, the Peters and Patricks, were given lifetime leases on other parts of the Catholic estate, respectively off Raleigh Road and Barry’s Point. On 23 March 1925 eight people were arrested, and in July 1925 their leader Paki personally agreed to not further "trespass", and left for Thames. In early September 1925 Takapuna Police executed an eviction order, and remaining shacks were pulled down. Tents were erected as on previous occasions, but on 30 September an interim injunction forced a final agreement to depart. That was the end of the "trespassing". Adams, the main protagonist for removing local Maori, died in 14 May 1928, and his ambitious plans for the area remained unfulfilled. Adams was born in Auckland in 1851 to a hotel proprietor, also Henry Hopper Adams, and became a prominent mining manager, engineer and prospector and involved with mining companies in Thames, Waihi, Te Aroha, Tairua and Coromandel. He had lived in Takapuna since the late 1890’s, represented the Takapuna Ward on the Waitemata County Council from 1905 to 1914, and also served on the Auckland Harbour Board from 1911 to 1915. 

Ownership of the Awataha land was divided soon after. On 1 June 1927 the Marist Brother’s Trust Board purchased the part bordering Shoal Bay, and a new leaseholder took over in the early 1930’s. Another new leaseholder took over the remaining 43 or so acres from 1 June 1928. Thus, up until the early part of the Second World War we have at least 2 leaseholders and the urupa still on the promontory, still in use. There had been another nearby for those Maori who died in the 1918 / 1919 influenza epidemic, but there had been an agreement to combine them in the early 1920’s. There is also talk of another much older Kawerau urupa near Smith’s Bush, with bodies buried standing up.

In early 1942 as part of the War in the Pacific, the United States Navy established itself in Auckland and looked for a site for the bulk storage of some 20 million gallons of fuel oil. A final governmental decision was made, with approval from Washington, and the New Zealand Public Works Department was to carry out the work at Northcote. Official requisitioning of land commenced in early June 1942. The plan was for 50 tanks, about 300 feet apart and following the foreshore. Each tank was to be 55 feet in diameter, set on solid ground and concreted in. All materials were to be supplied by the Americans. There was also to be around 2 miles of steel piping to link the tanks across Shoal Bay and the Bayswater Peninsula to a major fuelling point at Stanley Bay Wharf, which was to be substantially upgraded. This would be serviced by connecting roads and telephone lines. Obviously, this would have a major impact on the surrounding area, and the urupa.

In October 1942 the Native Affairs, Health and Works Departments reported to their Minister (MA 1/421/21/1/23) they had identified only 8 remains in the urupa and these had been disinterred to make way for the proposed Navy depot and distribution centre. Both Ngati Paoa and Tainui representatives had been asked to remove their graves in secret because of wartime considerations, and they were removed respectively to Huruhi on Waiheke and Taupiri in the Waikato. There is no evidence of any being re-interred in the Pompallier cemetery. Hone Tuwhare describes the removal of a grave in his "Burial". He assisted Mihikerei in 1942. 

The Public Works Department was unable to locate any of those who died in the 1918 influenza outbreak. Princess Te Puea came up with her people from the Waikato to remove the remains of Noka Hukanui, who died on 29 March 1922, and his wife Waiti Hoka who had died on 7 November 1921. They were reburied in the Tainui burial site at Taupiri.

The other group were all listed as Ngati Paoa, and related to Puhata who had died on 25 September 1922. A daughter Kuringaro died 1 August 1921, his wife Te Ahimua died 12 June 1923, a son Tiriwa died 30 December 1928, another son Matui died in 1929 and the last was Hori Mane, a son of Te Moanarua who also died in 1929. Thus the urupa was still being used by Puhata’s family even after the various groups of Maori had left Awataha in the early mid 1920’s. 

Following the removals, over the next 9 months the topography of the site was significantly altered with 200,000 cubic yards excavated, 60 feet diameter concrete foundations laid for 25 fuel oil tanks and some work done on the Stanley Bay Wharf. Six 350,000 gallon bolted steel tanks were erected and tested. This was to a total cost of 138,797 New Zealand Pounds, but in early 1943, construction was ceased. The War had moved further away into the Pacific, and by October 1943 the government was considering returning the land to its owners. It had not been formally taken by the government.

Much of the land was now only useful as an oil storage depot, and no longer appropriate for the educational facilities the Marist Brothers had in mind for the Shoal Bay site. Gorse covered much of the more sloping parts of the land, with the remainder covered in grass and rushes. There was also an old cottage on the site, said to date back to the 1880’s, and in need of much repair. The Auckland Harbour Board and the oil companies didn’t want a new oil storage area and the government faced high costs of returning the land in its original condition to the owners.

Both Bishop Liston and the Marist Brothers preferred the government now purchase the land and this happened in respectively 1946 and 1947. In fact the Marist Brother’s opted for a land swap, for land in the Glen Innes area. From 1948 the now re-combined 112 acres of government land was temporarily leased out again for grazing and cropping. More dangerous areas had been fenced off. The government had plans for its new acquisition.

In October 1959 the Nash Labour government announced plans for a large state housing area on 100 acres of the Tank Farm area, overturning plans announced in 1956 by the then Holland National government for a naval training school. The Fraser Labour government in the late 1940’s had talked of both the Navy and state housing on the site. Takapuna Borough supported the naval college while Northcote Borough supported housing. Neither was agreed to, and there continued to be competing claims for the best use of the site.

In 1962 part of the site was taken for the northern motorway to link it to the exit lanes from the Auckland Harbour Bridge. The foundations for the around 20 tanks were demolished, topsoil temporarily removed and the underlying clay used for motorway filling, before the topsoil was replaced.

Planned in the early 1960’s, the North Shore Teacher’s College was completed in late 1966 and opened in 1967 on 31 acres. It was closed in 1980 and the Nursing Studies department of the Auckland Technical Institute took over in 1981. The New Zealand Broadcasting Corporation talked of building a studio complex there on its 24 acres in the early 1970’s. The Warehouse head office is there now. Conservationists and local Maori were also concerned about the impact on Smith’s bush, including the urupa there.

After nine years of squabbling between the Northcote and Takapuna Boroughs, Waitemata County and various government departments work commenced on a link road for the motorway in 1971. All three local authorities had jurisdiction over different parts of the Tank Farm area, with a thin strip of Waitemata County land dividing Northcote and Takapuna Boroughs from each other. Tank Farm Road was renamed Akoranga Drive in February 1974 and in June 1974 the New Zealand Lifecare Residences Trust Board announced it was to build a retirement village in the area. In the 1980’s the Awataha Marae Incorporated Society was set up and construction started on the marae itself in October 1989, next to what was then the Auckland Institute of Technology, and is now the Auckland University of Technology North Shore campus. The marae marks the return of Maori settlement and activity to an ancestral site.
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